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Plaintiff Elena Nacarino (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, 

bring this Class Action Complaint against Chobani, LLC (“Defendant” or “Chobani”). On the 

basis of personal knowledge, information and belief, and investigation of counsel, Plaintiff alleges 

as follows:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendant manufactures, distributes, markets, labels, and sells “Greek Yogurt 

Vanilla Blended” under the Chobani brand (“Product” or “Products”).  

2. The Product was and is sold to consumers by third parties in different sizes 

including the 32 oz and 5.3 oz containers shown below.  

 
 

3. The Product, regardless of size or distribution channel, bears a common, uniform 

label that states “Vanilla” on the front of the packaging. 

4. The Product is marketed as a premium yogurt. According to one online grocery, 

https://www.freshdirect.com/, the Product costs $1.49 for its 5.3 oz single serving size.  

5. Defendant does not comply with FDA labeling requirements because it displays the 

“Vanilla” representation on the front of its package with no qualifiers, yet the Product has added 
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vanillin, not from the vanilla plant, that simulates, resembles, or reinforces the characterizing 

vanilla flavor of the Product. By mislabeling its Product in violation of federal and state regulation, 

Defendant induced Plaintiff and members of the Class to purchase Products that were of lesser 

value and quality than advertised thereby enriching itself at consumers’ expense. Plaintiff seeks 

an order for the restitution and disgorgement of all monies from the sale of Defendant’s Products 

that were unjustly acquired through unlawful acts and seeks an order enjoining Defendant from 

continuing to conduct business through unlawful acts and to commence corrective action. 

PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff Nacarino is a citizen of San Francisco, California. 

7. Plaintiff Nacarino purchased the Product on several occasions including a 32 oz 

container of the Product in 2020 from a Whole Foods in San Francisco. Plaintiff saw the 

unqualified “Vanilla” representation on the front of the packaging. She would not have purchased 

the Product at a premium price or bought the Product at all had Plaintiff known the truth – that the 

unqualified “Vanilla” representation on the front of the packaging, which she relied upon in 

making her purchase, violated FDA regulations in that the vanilla flavor of the Product is not 

independently derived from the vanilla plant but rather contains other non-vanilla plant flavoring 

that simulates, resembles, or reinforces the characterizing vanilla flavor of the Product.   

8. Plaintiff Nacarino would purchase the Product again in the future if the Product 

were reformulated such that the characterizing vanilla flavor of the Product is independently 

derived from the vanilla plant or if the labelling complied with federal and state regulations. She 

currently cannot rely on the Product’s labeling because nothing on the label discloses that the 

Product has added vanilla flavorings, not from the vanilla plant, that simulate, resemble or 

reinforce the characterizing vanilla flavor of the Product.    

9. Defendant Chobani, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a principal 

place of business in Norwich, New York, Chenango County. 
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JURISDICTION 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under the Class Action Fairness Act, 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). The amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive 

of interest and costs, and the parties are citizens of different states. 

11. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial 

part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this District and Defendant has 

intentionally availed itself of the laws and markets of this District through the promotion, 

marketing, distribution, and sale of its Products here. 

BACKGROUND AND FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

12. Vanilla comes from an orchid plant that originated in Mexico where it was first 

cultivated. The vanilla flower produces a fruit pod, the vanilla bean, which is the raw material for 

true vanilla flavor.  

13. Consumers want the vanilla flavor in food products to come from “real vanilla,” 

i.e., from ingredients derived from the vanilla plant, such as vanilla beans or vanilla extract. 

Unfortunately, vanilla fraud is rampant. As in this case, companies – without properly labelling its 

products in accordance with federal and state food regulations – adulterate their purported vanilla 

flavored products with vanillin, a cheaper vanilla flavoring, in order to reap even larger corporate 

profits from consumers. This conduct is particularly harmful in the marketplace because other 

companies properly label their competing vanilla-flavored products. 

14. Vanillin can be produced from so-called “natural” sources that have nothing to do 

with the vanilla plant, such as wood pulp, clove oil, and pine bark. Vanillin is far less expensive 

than vanilla extract. Vanilla extract costs approximately $5-6 dollars per ounce, whereas vanillin 

costs around $0.10 to $0.30 per ounce. Yet real vanilla is prized especially in non-baked foods 

such as ice cream, custards, and yogurt. See generally https://www.bhg.com/recipes/how-

to/bake/when-to-use-pure-vanilla-extract-or-imitation-vanilla-in-dessert/ (“That same vanillin 

flavor can be made without any real vanilla beans, so it's much more affordable (around $0.10 to 

$0.30 per ounce). Imitation vanilla ($1, Target) can have ingredients such as lignin, clove oil, pine 
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bark, fermented bran, and several others. . . . For best results, use pure vanilla extract (or paste) 

for no-bake treats, simmered sauces and custards, and frozen desserts.”).  

15. Section 401 of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FFDCA”) directs the 

FDA to establish standards and rules for food labeling where necessary to promote honesty and 

fair dealing in the interest of consumers. The authority granted by Congress to the FDA enables 

the agency to combat an economic problem: the marketing of foods from which traditional 

constituents are removed or in which new or different (often cheaper and artificial) ingredients are 

substituted. As such, the federal food standards are not safety standards, but rather, as the FDA 

explains, intended to “protect consumers from contaminated products and economic fraud” and 

have served as “a trusted barrier against substandard and fraudulently packaged food since their 

enactment in the 1938 FFDCA.” 

16. In order to combat vanilla fraud, the FDA has strict rules regarding use of the term 

“vanilla” on the labels of food products.  

17. Only vanilla flavor independently derived from the vanilla plant is allowed to 

labelled “vanilla” without any qualifiers. If the characterizing vanilla flavor comes in any part from 

non-vanilla plant sources, the FDA mandates that the label must so inform consumers by including 

“Natural” or “Artificial” “Flavored” or “With Other Natural Flavor,” in letters not less than one-

half the height of the letters used for “Vanilla” and immediately adjacent to “Vanilla.” 21 C.F.R. 

§ 101.22(i)(1).  

18. More specifically, 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(1)(iii) provides:  

If the food contains both a characterizing flavor from the product whose flavor 
is simulated and other natural flavor which simulates, resembles or reinforces 
the characterizing flavor, the food shall be labeled in accordance with the 
introductory text and paragraph (i)(1)(i) of this section and the name of the food 
shall be immediately followed by the words “with other natural flavor” in letters 
not less than one-half the height of the letters used in the name of the 
characterizing flavor. 
 

19. California Sherman Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Law, Cal. Health & Saf. Code 

section 109875, et seq. (“Sherman Law”), adopts all FDA regulations as state regulations (Section 

110100).  
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20. Scientific testing of the Product by the Mass Spectrometry Facility, Food 

Innovation Center North, revealed that the characterizing vanilla flavor of the Product does not 

come independently from vanilla extract or other ingredients derived from the vanilla plant. 

Instead, the Product’s vanilla flavor is spiked with vanillin, a vanilla flavor ingredient not derived 

from the vanilla plant, which simulates, resembles, or reinforces the vanilla flavor of the Product. 

See Mass Spectrometry Laboratory Analysis Report #7632, dated March 11, 2020, attached as 

Exhibit A.  

21. This conclusion is supported by the report’s GC-MS analysis, shown below. GC-

MS analysis is the method laboratories typically rely on in determining the presence of vanilla 

flavor components, because it is capable of detecting trace levels of compounds and there is 

minimal to no degradation of compounds in the extraction and detection process. 
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See Exhibit A at page 5. Testing of Defendant’s Product reveals vanillin (MS Scan # 1016) at 

81.748 parts per million or PPM.  
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22. Although vanillin is one of the many aromatic compounds found in vanilla extract, 

the amount of vanillin found in Defendant’s Product demonstrates that the vanillin here is not from 

vanilla extract but is instead a flavoring agent that was added to the Product to simulate, resemble, 

or reinforce the Product’s vanilla flavor. Moreover, the testing did not detect other aromatic 

compounds that would exist if vanilla extract or other ingredients derived from the vanilla was the 

source of the vanillin found in the Product. 

23. A comparison of the Product with other competing products that comply with FDA 

labeling requirements is revealing.  

24. As seen below, Defendant’s competitor Siggi’s, like Defendant, also labels its 

yogurt simply “Vanilla” with no qualifiers. Siggi’s sells its premium vanilla yogurt at a similar 

price point to the Product. According to the same online grocery cited above, 

https://www.freshdirect.com/, Siggi’s vanilla yogurt costs $1.79 for its 5.3 oz single serving size 

(compared to $1.49 for 5.3 oz of the Product). Siggi’s, however, uses only vanilla extract to give 

its yogurt vanilla flavor.  

 
25. Telling, the GC-MS analysis of Siggi’s vanilla yogurt, which is flavored with 

“Madagascar Bourbon Vanilla,” shows vastly different results on its GC-MS analysis. Testing of 
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Siggi’s vanilla yogurt revealed vanillin (MS Scan # 999) at a mere 0.2556 PPM compared to the 

Product’s level of vanillin at 81.748 PPM. Moreover, the GC-MS analysis of Siggi’s vanilla yogurt 

detected the presence of aromatic compounds associated with real vanilla that are not found in 

Defendant’s Product.   

 
26. Another competing vanilla yogurt product that is labeled similarly to the Product is 

Yoplait’s “Oui” brand yogurt. As seen below Yoplait labels its vanilla Oui yogurt simply “Vanilla” 
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with no qualifiers. Yoplait uses only “Vanilla Extract” to flavor its Oui product. According to the 

same online grocery cited above, https://www.freshdirect.com/, Yoplait’s Oui vanilla yogurt costs 

$1.69 for the 5.0 oz single serving size, a similar price point as the Product ($1.49 for 5.3 oz). 

 

 
 
27. The GC-MS analysis of the Oui vanilla yogurt is similar to that of Siggi’s and 

revealed vanillin (MS Scan # 993) at 1.783 PPM, compared to the Defendant Product’s level at 

81.748 PPM, and detected the presence of various aromatic compounds associated with real vanilla 

that are not found in Defendant’s Product. 
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28. In other words, Defendant’s Product contains vanillin in levels that are more than 

45 times that of Oui and more than 319 times that of Siggi’s. Thus, the scientific testing of the 

Product and other properly labeled products, demonstrates that the Product relies upon added 

vanillin, not from the vanilla plant, to boost its vanilla flavor. Defendant violates 21 C.F.R. § 

101.22(i)(1) by using “Vanilla” alone on its front label.    

29. Other competing products that add non-vanilla plant flavorings so indicate on the 

front of their products. The following are just a few yogurts that add the “With Other Natural 

Flavor” qualifier to their “Vanilla” label.  

  
30. These products are priced materially less than Defendant’s Product, which is sold 

at $1.49 for 5.3 oz. According to the same online grocery cited above, 

https://www.freshdirect.com/, the vanilla “Original” Yoplait yogurt costs $0.99 for the 6.0 oz 

single serving size, and Brown Cow costs $1.19 for the 5.3 oz single serving size. 

31. In sum, whereas many competing yogurt products in the marketplace comply with 

federal regulation, 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(i)(1), Defendant’s Product does not. Defendant charges 

more for its Products than it otherwise could by violating FDA labeling regulations.   
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Reliance and Economic Injury 

32. Plaintiff sought a yogurt product whose characterizing vanilla flavor is 

independently derived from the vanilla plant. 

33. Plaintiff read and relied on Defendant’s label on the Product to believe that the 

characterizing flavor of the Product was vanilla and that the vanilla flavor came independently 

from the vanilla plant.   

34. Had Plaintiff known the truth – that the label Plaintiff relied upon in making the 

purchase was unlawful in that the vanilla flavor of the Product does not come independently from 

the vanilla plant – Plaintiff would not have purchased the Product at a premium price or bought 

the Product at all.  

35. The Product is priced comparably to other similar premium vanilla-flavored yogurt 

products that are flavored with vanilla extract, but costs more than vanilla-flavored yogurt products 

that disclose added flavoring on the front label.  

36. By engaging in its unlawful labelling, Defendant reaped and continues to reap 

increased sales and profits. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

37. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure. The class that Plaintiff seek to represent (the “Class”) is composed of and 

defined as follows: 

All persons in California who have purchased Defendant’s Product from 
October 23, 2016 to the date of judgment. 

 
Excluded from the Class are officers and directors of Defendant, members of the immediate 

families of the officers and directors of Defendant, and their legal representatives, heirs, 

successors or assigns and any entity in which they have or have had a controlling interest. 

38. This action is brought and may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. This action satisfies the numerosity, typicality, adequacy, 

predominance, and superiority requirements of those provisions. The Class is so numerous that the 
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individual joinder of all of its members is impracticable. Due to the nature of the trade and 

commerce involved, Plaintiff believes that the total number of Class members is in the tens of 

thousands and that members of the Class are geographically dispersed across California.  While 

the exact number and identities of the Class members are unknown at this time, such information 

can be ascertained through appropriate investigation and discovery. 

39. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class, and these 

common questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the 

Class.  These common legal and factual questions, which do not vary from Class member to Class 

member, and which may be determined without reference to the individual circumstances of any 

Class member include, but are not limited to, whether Defendant’s labeling of its Product 

constitute an unlawful consumer sales practice. 

40. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class because Plaintiff, like all 

members of the Class, purchased a Product bearing the unqualified “Vanilla” representation on the 

front of the packaging in a typical consumer setting and sustained injury from Defendant’s 

wrongful conduct. 

41. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class and has retained 

counsel who are experienced in litigating complex class actions.  Plaintiff has no interests that 

conflict with those of the Class. 

42. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy.  Individual joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable.  

Even if individual members of the Class had the resources to pursue individual litigation, it would 

be unduly burdensome to the courts in which the individual litigation would proceed.  Individual 

litigation magnifies the delay and expense to all parties in the court system of resolving the 

controversies engendered by Defendant’s common course of conduct.   The class action device 

allows a single court to provide the benefits of unitary adjudication, judicial economy, and the fair 

and efficient handling of all Class members’ claims in a single forum.  The conduct of this action 

as a class action conserves the resources of the parties and of the judicial system and protects the 
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rights of the Class.  Furthermore, for many, if not most, a class action is the only feasible 

mechanism that allows an opportunity for legal redress and justice. 

43. This action is maintainable as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(2) because Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief respecting the Class as a whole. 

44. This action is maintainable as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(3) because the common questions of law and fact identified above, without limitation,  

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and a class action is superior 

to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq. –   

Unlawful Conduct Prong of the UCL) 

On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class 

45. Plaintiff  incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the complaint as if 

fully set forth herein. California Business & Professions Code section 17200 (“UCL”) prohibits 

any “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice.”   

46. The acts, omissions, misrepresentations, practices, and non-disclosures of 

Defendant, as alleged herein, constitute “unlawful” business acts and practices in that they violate 

the FFDCA and its implementing regulations. 

47. More specifically, the Product is unlawfully because its label violates 21 C.F.R. § 

101.22(i), including subsection (iii) that provides: 

If the food contains both a characterizing flavor from the product whose flavor 
is simulated and other natural flavor which simulates, resembles or reinforces 
the characterizing flavor, the food shall be labeled in accordance with the 
introductory text and paragraph (i)(1)(i) of this section and the name of the food 
shall be immediately followed by the words “with other natural flavor” in letters 
not less than one-half the height of the letters used in the name of the 
characterizing flavor. 

 
48. Defendant’s conduct also violates the Sherman Law, which adopts all FDA 

regulations as state regulations (Section 110100).  
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49. The challenged statement made and actions taken by Defendant violate the FFDCA 

and the Sherman Law and therefore violates the “unlawful” prong of the UCL.   

50. Defendant leveraged its unlawful conduct to induce Plaintiff  and members of the 

Class to purchase Products that were of lesser value and quality than advertised. Defendant’s 

unlawful conduct caused Plaintiff  and members of the Class to suffer injury and to lose money, 

as it denied them the benefit of the bargain when they decided to purchase Defendant’s Product 

over other products that are properly labeled and less expensive. Had Plaintiff and the members of 

the Class been aware of Defendant’s unlawful tactics, they would not have purchased Defendant’s 

Product at all or would have paid less than what they did for it. 

51. In accordance with California Business & Professions Code section 17203, Plaintiff  

seeks an order enjoining Defendant from continuing to conduct business through unlawful acts 

and practices and to commence corrective action. 

52. Plaintiff also seeks an order for the disgorgement and restitution of all monies from 

the sale of Defendant’s Products that were unjustly acquired through unlawful acts and practices. 

53. Plaintiff lacks an adequate remedy at law because the UCL, the only claim brought 

by Plaintiff, does not provide for damages. In addition, Plaintiff lacks an adequate remedy at law 

for future harm.  

54. THEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as set forth below. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

 THEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: 

 1. Certification of the Class, certifying Plaintiff as representative of the Class and 

designating her counsel as counsel for the Class; 

 2. Declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant California Business & Professions Code 

§§ 17200, et seq.;  

3. Restitution and disgorgement pursuant California Business & Professions Code §§ 

17200, et seq.;  

4. Attorneys’ fees; 

5. Costs of suit incurred; and 

6.  Such further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all claims and causes of action so triable in this 

lawsuit. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Date: September 8, 2021  
REESE LLP 
 

By:  /s/ Sue J. Nam    
Sue J. Nam (State Bar No. 206729) 
snam@reesellp.com 
Michael R. Reese (State Bar No. 206773) 
mreese@reesellp.com 
100 West 93rd Street, 16th Floor  
New York, New York 10025 
Telephone: (212) 643-0500 
Facsimile: (212) 253-4272 

   
REESE LLP  
George V. Granade (Cal. State Bar No. 316050) 
ggranade@reesellp.com 
8484 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 515  
Los Angeles, California 90211  
Telephone: (310) 393-0070    
  
SHEEHAN & ASSOCIATES, P.C.  
Spencer Sheehan  
spencer@spencersheehan.com  
60 Cuttermill Rd, Ste 409 
Great Neck, New York 11021 
Telephone: (516) 303-0552  
 
Counsel for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class  
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